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As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, August 6, 2024

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024
Or

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from__________to__________                            

Commission File No. 001-40420

Vimeo Logo_RegistrationBlack.jpg

VIMEO, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 85-4334195

 (State or other jurisdiction of


incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer


Identification No.)

330 West 34th Street, 5th Floor New York, New York 10001
(Address of registrant's principal executive offices)

(212) 524-8791
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Trading Symbol Name of Exchange on Which Registered

Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share VMEO
The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
(Nasdaq Global Select Market)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for

such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒   No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding

12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒    No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the
definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☒ Accelerated filer ☐ Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐ Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting

standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐    No ☒

As of May 2, 2024 August 1, 2024, the following shares of the registrant's common stock were outstanding:

Common Stock 159,866,889 156,398,096 

Class B common stock 9,399,250 

Total 169,266,139 165,797,346 
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Words such as "will,"
"may, "could," "should," "would," "anticipates," "estimates," "expects," "plans," "projects," "forecasts," "intends," "targets," "seeks" and "believes," as well as variations of these words,
among others, generally identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, among others, statements relating to Vimeo's future results of operations
and financial condition, business strategy, and plans and objectives of management for future operations.

Forward-looking statements are based on our management's beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available. These forward-looking statements are subject to
a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Actual results could differ materially from those contained in or implied by these forward-looking statements.
Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to:

• we have a history of losses,

• our prior rapid growth may not be indicative of future performance, and our revenue has declined in recent periods,

• our limited operating history as a pure software-as-a-service ("SaaS") company and our limited history of selling such plans through our sales force,
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• our total addressable market may prove to be smaller than we expect,

• our ability to read data and make forecasts may be limited,

• we may not have the right product/market fit and may not be able to attract free users or subscribers,

• we may not be able to convert our free users into subscribers,

• competition in our market is intense,

• we may not be able to scale our business effectively,

• we may need additional funding as we continue to grow our business,

• the use or capabilities of artificial intelligence in our offerings may result in reputational harm and liability,

• we may experience service interruptions,

• hosting and delivery costs may increase unexpectedly,

• weakened global economic conditions may harm our industry, business and results of operations,

• our business involves hosting large quantities of user content,

• we have been sued for hosting content that allegedly infringed on a third-party copyright,

• we may face liability for hosting a variety of tortious or unlawful materials,

• we have faced negative publicity for removing, or declining to remove, certain content, regardless of whether such content violated any law,

• we collect, store and process large amounts of content and personal information and any loss of or unauthorized access to such data could materially impact our business,

• if our business becomes constrained by changing legal and regulatory requirements, including with respect to privacy, data security and data protection, consumer
protection, and user-generated content, or enforcement by government regulators, including fines, orders or consent decrees in the U.S. or other jurisdictions in which we
operate, our operating results will suffer,

• we may experience a disruption of our business activities due to senior executive transitions,

• we have been the target of cyberattacks by malicious actors,

• we have faced claims that we infringe third-party intellectual property rights, and

• the risks described in the section titled "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our management to predict
all risk factors nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ from those
contained in, or implied by, any forward-looking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We cannot assure you that the events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking
statements will be achieved or occur. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results,
levels of activity, performance, or achievements. You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we reference in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
and have filed as exhibits to this report with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity, performance, and achievements may be materially different from what
we expect. Any forward-looking statements only speak as of the date of this document, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking information or statements,
whether written or oral, to reflect any change, except as required by law. All forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified by
these cautionary statements.

PART I
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.    Consolidated Financial Statements
VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(Unaudited)
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March 31,

2024 December 31, 2023

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(In thousands, except par value

amounts)

ASSETS ASSETS     ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Leasehold improvements and equipment, net

Leasehold improvements and equipment, net

Leasehold improvements and equipment, net

Goodwill

Intangible assets with definite lives, net

Other non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY        

LIABILITIES: LIABILITIES:     LIABILITIES:    

Accounts payable, trade

Accounts payable, trade

Accounts payable, trade

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Commitments and contingencies

Commitments and contingencies

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,600,000 shares authorized; 159,440 and 158,511 shares issued and outstanding, respectively

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,600,000 shares authorized; 159,440 and 158,511 shares issued and outstanding, respectively

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,600,000 shares authorized; 159,440 and 158,511 shares issued and outstanding, respectively

Class B common stock, $0.01 par value; 400,000 shares authorized; 9,399 shares issued and outstanding

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,600,000 shares authorized; 160,265 and 158,511 shares issued and 157,228 and 158,511 shares
outstanding, respectively

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,600,000 shares authorized; 160,265 and 158,511 shares issued and 157,228 and 158,511 shares
outstanding, respectively

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,600,000 shares authorized; 160,265 and 158,511 shares issued and 157,228 and 158,511 shares
outstanding, respectively

Class B common stock, $0.01 par value; 400,000 shares authorized; 9,399 shares issued and outstanding, respectively

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit
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Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Treasury stock, 3,037 and — shares, respectively

Total shareholders' equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

(In thousands, except per share data) (In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below)

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Research and development expense

Research and development expense

Research and development expense

Sales and marketing expense

General and administrative expense

Depreciation

Amortization of intangibles

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Operating income

Interest expense

Other income, net

Other income, net

Other income, net

Earnings (loss) before income taxes

Earnings before income taxes

Income tax provision

Net earnings (loss)

Net earnings

Per share information:

Per share information:

Per share information:

Basic earnings (loss) per share

Basic earnings (loss) per share

Basic earnings (loss) per share

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
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Diluted earnings per share

Stock-based compensation expense by function:

Stock-based compensation expense by function:

Stock-based compensation expense by function:

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Research and development expense

Sales and marketing expense

General and administrative expense

Total stock-based compensation expense

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,

  2024 2023

  (In thousands)

Net earnings (loss) $ 6,073  $ (698)

Other comprehensive loss:

Change in foreign currency translation adjustment (124) (128)

Total other comprehensive loss (124) (128)

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 5,949  $ (826)

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

  2024 2023 2024 2023

  (In thousands)

Net earnings $ 10,121  $ 5,871  $ 16,194  $ 5,173 

Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Change in foreign currency translation adjustment (114) 378  (238) 250 

Total other comprehensive (loss) income (114) 378  (238) 250 

Comprehensive income $ 10,007  $ 6,249  $ 15,956  $ 5,423 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Three and Six Months Ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Balance at March 31, 2024

Balance at March 31, 2024

Balance at March 31, 2024

Net earnings

Net earnings

Net earnings

Other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive loss

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Balance at December 31, 2023

Purchase of treasury stock

Purchase of treasury stock

Purchase of treasury stock

Balance at June 30, 2024

Balance at June 30, 2024

Balance at June 30, 2024

Balance at December 31, 2023

Balance at December 31, 2023

Balance at December 31, 2023

Net earnings

Net earnings

Net earnings

Other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive loss

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Balance at March 31, 2024

Purchase of treasury stock

Balance at March 31, 2024

Purchase of treasury stock

Purchase of treasury stock

Balance at March 31, 2024

Balance at June 30, 2024

Balance at June 30, 2024

Balance at June 30, 2024

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

Balance at March 31, 2023

Balance at March 31, 2023

Balance at March 31, 2023

Net earnings

Net earnings

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Balance at December 31, 2022

Balance at June 30, 2023

Balance at June 30, 2023

Balance at June 30, 2023

Balance at December 31, 2022

Balance at December 31, 2022

Balance at December 31, 2022

Net loss

Net loss

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive loss

Net earnings

Net earnings

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Restricted Stock Award

Restricted Stock Award

Restricted Stock Award

Balance at March 31, 2023

Balance at June 30, 2023

Balance at March 31, 2023

Balance at June 30, 2023

Balance at March 31, 2023

Balance at June 30, 2023
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The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31,

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(In

thousands) (In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash flows from operating

activities:    

Cash flows from operating

activities:    

Net earnings (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities:

Net earnings

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating

activities:

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Amortization of intangibles

Depreciation

Provision for credit losses

Loss on the sale of an asset

Loss on the sale of an asset

Loss on the sale of an asset

Non-cash lease expense

Other adjustments, net

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Accounts payable and other liabilities

Deferred revenue

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures

Capital expenditures

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from the sale of an asset

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards

Amounts related to settlement of equity awards
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Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Purchases of treasury stock

Contingent consideration payment

Other

Net cash used in financing activities

Total cash provided (used)

Total cash provided

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and

restricted cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted

cash

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Description of Business

Vimeo is the world's leading all-in-one video software solution, providing the full breadth of video tools through a software-as-a-service model. Vimeo's comprehensive and
cloud-based tools empower its users to create, collaborate and communicate with video on a single, turnkey platform.

As used herein, "Vimeo," the "Company," "we," "our" or "us" and similar terms in these consolidated financial statements refer to Vimeo, Inc. and its subsidiaries (unless the
context requires otherwise).

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") and
with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by GAAP for complete
annual financial statements. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include all adjustments considered necessary for
a fair presentation. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full year. The information included in this Form 10-Q should be read in
conjunction with the annual audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2023.

All intercompany balances and transactions between and among Vimeo and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. All related party balances between Vimeo and
IAC/InterActiveCorp ("IAC") and its subsidiaries are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet within "Accrued expenses and other current liabilities" and "Other
long-term liabilities". liabilities."

All related party transactions between Vimeo and IAC and its subsidiaries, other than amounts related to the settlement of equity awards, are reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statement of cash flows as operating activities. Amounts related to the settlement of equity awards are reflected in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash
flows as financing activities.

Accounting Estimates

Management of Vimeo is required to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions during the preparation of its consolidated financial statements in accordance with
GAAP that affect the amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Significant estimates and judgments inherent in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements include those related to: the carrying value of accounts
receivable, including the determination of the allowance for credit losses; the determination of the estimated customer relationship period for certain costs to obtain a contract with a
customer; the carrying value of right-of-use assets ("ROU assets") and related lease liabilities; the useful lives and recoverability of intangible assets with definite lives; the
recoverability of goodwill; contingencies; unrecognized tax benefits; the valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets; and the accounting for stock-based compensation
expense, among others. Vimeo bases its estimates, judgments and assumptions on historical experience, its forecasts and budgets and other factors that Vimeo considers relevant.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted by the Company
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In November 2023, Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures was issued, which
amended existing guidance to require disclosure of significant segment expenses and other segment items on an annual and interim basis and to provide in interim periods all
disclosures about a reportable segment's profit or loss and assets that are currently required annually. These amendments are effective on a retrospective basis for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will
have on its consolidated financial statements.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

In December 2023, ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures was issued, and requires disclosure of disaggregated information about
a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. This guidance will become effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2024 on a prospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2—REVENUE

Revenue Recognition

Vimeo's revenue is derived primarily from fixed SaaS subscription fees paid by customers. Subscription periods generally range from one month to three years, with the most
common being an annual subscription, and are generally non-cancellable.

Vimeo accounts for a contract with a customer when it has approval and commitment from all parties, the rights of the parties and payment terms are identified, the contract
has commercial substance and collectability of consideration is probable. The transaction price, which generally reflects the fixed SaaS subscription fees listed in the terms of the
contract, is the amount of consideration Vimeo expects to be entitled to in exchange for access to the Vimeo platform. The transaction price is recognized as revenue on a straight-
line basis over the contractual term of the arrangement beginning on the date access is provided to the Vimeo platform, which is considered to be a series of distinct services that
comprise a single performance obligation and have the same pattern of transfer over the contractual term. All taxes assessed by governmental authorities that are both (i) imposed
on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction and (ii) collected from customers are excluded from the measurement of the transaction price, and accordingly, not
included as a component of revenue or cost of revenue. For contracts that have an original duration of one year or less, Vimeo does not consider the time value of money applicable
to such contracts. Estimates of variable consideration are not significant.

Disaggregated revenue is as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

(In thousands) (In thousands) (In thousands)

Revenue:

Self-Serve & Add-Ons

Self-Serve & Add-Ons

Self-Serve & Add-Ons

Vimeo Enterprise

Other

Total

Revenue by geography is based on where the customer is located. The United States was the only country whose from which revenue constituted greater than 10% of total
revenue of the Company for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023.

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

(In thousands) (In thousands) (In thousands)

Revenue:
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United States

United States

United States

All other countries

Total

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of payments that are received or are contractually due in advance of Vimeo's performance. Vimeo's deferred revenue is reported on a contract by
contract basis at the end of each reporting period. Vimeo classifies deferred revenue as current when the term of the applicable subscription period or expected completion of its
performance obligation is one year or less. The current and non-current deferred revenue balances are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows:

March 31,


2024

December 31,


2023

June 30,


2024

December 31,


2023

(In thousands)

Deferred revenue

Other long-term liabilities
During the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, Vimeo recognized $78.3 million $126.9 million of revenue that was included in the deferred revenue balance

at December 31, 2023. During the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, Vimeo recognized $77.1 million $126.3 million of revenue that was included in the deferred
revenue balance at December 31, 2022.

Costs to Obtain a Contract with a Customer

Vimeo has determined that commissions paid to employees pursuant to certain sales incentive programs meet the requirements to be capitalized as a cost of obtaining a
contract with a customer. Commissions paid to employees pursuant to certain sales incentive programs are amortized over the estimated customer relationship period. Vimeo
calculates the estimated customer relationship period as the average customer life, which is based on historical data. When customer renewals are expected and the renewal
commission is not commensurate with the initial commission, the average customer life includes renewal periods. Vimeo has elected the practical expedient to expense costs to
obtain a contract with a customer as incurred when the customer relationship period is one year or less.

The current and non-current balances of capitalized costs to obtain a contract with a customer are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows:

March 31,


2024

December 31,


2023

June 30,


2024

December 31,


2023

(In thousands)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other non-current assets
NOTE 3—INCOME TAXES

At the end of each interim period, Vimeo estimates the annual expected effective income tax rate and applies that rate to its ordinary year-to-date earnings or loss with discrete
items recorded in the period. The estimates used to compute the provision or benefit for income taxes may change as new events occur, additional information is obtained, or
Vimeo's tax environment changes.

For the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, Vimeo recorded an income tax provision of $0.3 million $1.2 million and $0.4 million $0.8 million,
respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, Vimeo recorded an income tax provision of $1.6 million and $1.2 million, respectively. The difference between the
effective income tax rate and was lower than the federal statutory rate of 21% primarily relates due to stock-based awards, movement in the valuation allowance, and the effects of
international tax provisions as required under the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Act, partially offset by stock-based awards. Vimeo's largest deferred tax assets are capitalized
research and development expenses and tax attribute carryforwards. Vimeo has recorded a valuation allowance for the majority of its net deferred tax assets because it has
concluded that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit will not be realized.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)
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At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties, were $4.8 million $5.0 million and $4.6 million,

respectively. The Company would recognize an income tax benefit of $0.5 million if unrecognized tax benefits at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 are subsequently recognized. Vimeo

believes no unrecognized tax benefits would decrease by March 31, 2025 June 30, 2025. Vimeo recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits, if applicable,
in the income tax provision.

NOTE 4—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Vimeo's financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows:

March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024

Quoted Market


Prices for


Identical Assets in Active


Markets


(Level 1)

Significant


Other


Observable


Inputs


(Level 2)

Significant


Unobservable


Inputs


(Level 3)

Total


Fair Value


Measurements

Quoted Market


Prices for


Identical Assets in Active


Markets


(Level 1)

Significant


Other


Observable


Inputs


(Level 2)

Significant


Unobservable


Inputs


(Level 3)

Total


Fair Value


Measurements

(In thousands) (In thousands)

Money market funds

Money market funds

Money market funds

Time deposits

Total

  December 31, 2023

 

Quoted Market


Prices for


Identical Assets in Active


Markets


(Level 1)

Significant


Other


Observable


Inputs


(Level 2)

Significant


Unobservable


Inputs


(Level 3)

Total


Fair Value


Measurements

  (In thousands)

Money market funds $ 274,212  $ —  $ —  $ 274,212 

Time deposits —  6,098  —  6,098 

Total $ 274,212  $ 6,098  $ —  $ 280,310 

Money market funds and time deposits are included in "Cash and cash equivalents" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Vimeo's non-financial assets (which consist primarily of goodwill, ROU assets, and intangible assets with definite lives) are adjusted to fair value only if an impairment is
recognized. Such fair value measurements are based predominantly on Level 3 inputs.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The changes in the Company's financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as follows and
solely relate to the Company's contingent consideration arrangements, which were finalized and paid in 2023 (as described below):
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Three Months Ended March 31,

2023

(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 7,845 

Total net losses:

Included in operating income (loss) 104 

Settlements (4,972)

Balance at end of period $ 2,977 

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2023 2023

(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 2,977  $ 7,845 

Total net losses:

Included in operating income —  104 

Settlements —  (4,972)

Balance at end of period $ 2,977  $ 2,977 

Contingent Consideration Arrangements

The aggregate purchase price of the Company's 2021 acquisitions of WIREWAX Ltd. ("WIREWAX") and Wibbitz Ltd. ("Wibbitz") consisted of cash consideration and contingent
consideration, based on a combination of certain financial metrics and integration milestones.

In the first quarter of 2023, the contingent consideration arrangement for WIREWAX was finalized and resulted in a payment of $5.0 million to its WIREWAX's former
shareholders and a $0.1 million loss that was recorded within "General and administrative expense" in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. In the
accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows, the final $5.0 million payment is included in "Contingent consideration payment" within financing activities and "Accounts
payable and other liabilities" within operating activities for $3.3 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

In the third quarter of 2023, the contingent consideration arrangement for Wibbitz was finalized and the Company paid $2.5 million to Wibbitz's former shareholders.

NOTE 5—SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Description of Vimeo Common Stock and Vimeo Class B Common Stock

Except as described herein, shares of Vimeo common stock and Vimeo Class B common stock are identical.

In general, the holders of shares of Vimeo common stock vote together as a single class with the holders of shares of Vimeo Class B common stock on all matters, including
the election of directors; provided, however, that the holders of shares of Vimeo common stock, acting as a single class, are entitled to elect twenty-five percent (25%) of the total
number of Vimeo directors, rounded up to the next whole number in the event of a fraction. Each outstanding share of Vimeo common stock and Vimeo Class B common stock
entitles the holder to one vote per share and ten votes per share, respectively.

The holders of shares of Vimeo common stock and the holders of shares of Vimeo Class B common stock are entitled to receive, share for share, such dividends as may be
declared by Vimeo's Board of Directors (the "Board") out of funds legally available for the payment of dividends. In the event of a liquidation, dissolution, distribution of assets or
winding-up of Vimeo, the holders of shares of Vimeo common stock and the holders of shares of Vimeo Class B common stock are entitled to receive, share for share, all the assets
available for distribution after payment of a proper amount to the holders of any series of Vimeo preferred stock, including any series that may be issued in the future.

Vimeo is authorized to issue 1,600,000,000 shares of Vimeo common stock and 400,000,000 shares of Vimeo Class B common stock.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Vimeo Restricted Shares

Vimeo Restricted Shares (held by Joseph Levin, Special Advisor to the Board and former Chairman and member of the Board) totaling 3,247,000 shares were reflected in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet within "Common Stock" at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. Vesting of the Vimeo Restricted Shares is subject to
Mr. Levin's continued service as Special Advisor to the Board through November 5, 2030, as well as the achievement of certain stock price targets. Vimeo Restricted Shares have a
non-forfeitable dividend right in the event the Company declares a cash dividend to common shareholders and participates in all other distributions of the Company in the same
manner as all other Vimeo common shareholders.
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Description of Preferred Stock

The Board is authorized to provide for the issuance of shares of preferred stock, and any class or series thereof, and to assign the designations, powers, preferences and
rights to each such class or series and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions. There have been no preferred stock issuances to date.

Stock Repurchase Program

On February 25, 2022, the Board authorized a stock repurchase program of up to $50 million of the Company’s common stock through open market or private
transactions. transactions (the "Stock Repurchase Program"). Under the stock repurchase authorization, Stock Repurchase Program, Vimeo may repurchase shares of its common
stock at any time or from time to time, without prior notice, subject to market conditions and other considerations, as determined by management. Vimeo's repurchases may be
made through 10b5-1 plans, open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions, block purchases or other transactions. No date has been established for the completion of
the stock repurchase program. Stock Repurchase Program. Vimeo intends to fund repurchases under the repurchase program Stock Repurchase Program from cash on hand.
Vimeo has no obligation to repurchase any shares under the repurchase program Stock Repurchase Program and may suspend or discontinue it at any time. During the six months
ended June 30, 2024, the Company repurchased 3.0 million shares of its common stock, on a trade date basis, at an average cost of $3.88 per share, or in aggregate $11.8 million.
There were no shares repurchased during the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2023. The Company accounts for treasury stock under the cost method.

Subsequent to June 30, 2024 and 2023. through August 1, 2024, the Company repurchased 1.2 million shares of its common stock, on a trade date basis, at an average cost of
$3.74 per share, or in aggregate $4.6 million. At August 1, 2024, the Company has $33.7 million remaining under its share repurchase authorization.

NOTE 6—ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consisting of foreign currency translation adjustments is as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

(In thousands) (In thousands)

(In thousands)

(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period

Other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive loss

Other comprehensive (loss) income

Balance at end of period

Balance at end of period

Balance at end of period

At both March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, there was no tax benefit or provision on accumulated other comprehensive loss.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

NOTE 7—EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Vimeo common stock and Class B common stock are treated as one class of common stock for earnings per share ("EPS") purposes as both classes of common stock
participate in earnings, dividends and other distributions on the same basis. Vimeo calculates basic EPS using the two-class method since the Vimeo Restricted Shares are
participating securities as they are unvested and have a non-forfeitable dividend right in the event the Company declares a cash dividend to common shareholders and participates
in all other distributions of the Company in the same manner as all other Vimeo common shareholders. Diluted EPS is calculated, on the most dilutive basis, which excludes equity
awards that would be anti-dilutive.

The computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to common shareholders is as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
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2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

(In thousands, except per share data) (In thousands, except per share data)

Basic EPS:

Numerator:

Numerator:

Numerator:

Net earnings (loss)

Net earnings (loss)

Net earnings (loss)

Net earnings

Net earnings

Net earnings

Less: Net earnings attributed to participating security

Net earnings (loss) attributable to common stock shareholders

Net earnings attributable to common stock shareholders

Denominator: (a)

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding

Basic earnings (loss) per share

Basic earnings (loss) per share

Basic earnings (loss) per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Diluted EPS:

Diluted EPS:

Diluted EPS:

Numerator:

Numerator:

Numerator:

Net earnings (loss)

Net earnings (loss)

Net earnings (loss)

Net earnings

Net earnings

Net earnings

Less: Net earnings attributed to participating security

Net earnings (loss) attributable to common stock shareholders

Net earnings attributable to common stock shareholders

Denominator: (a)

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding

Dilutive securities

Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding

Antidilutive securities

Antidilutive securities

Antidilutive securities

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Diluted earnings (loss) per share
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Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share
_____________________

(a)    Vimeo Restricted Shares were included in shares of common stock issued and outstanding at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, but were

excluded from the computation of average basic common shares outstanding for EPS purposes because the number of shares that ultimately vest is subject to the satisfaction of certain market-based conditions.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

NOTE 8—FINANCIAL STATEMENT DETAILS

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the accompanying consolidated balance sheet to the total amounts shown in the
accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

March 31,

2024

December 31,

2023

March 31,

2023

December 31,

2022

June 30, 2024

December 31,

2023 June 30, 2023

December 31,

2022

(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash included in Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash as shown in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash
flows

Restricted cash at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022 primarily consisted of deposits related to a lease and corporate
credit cards.

Restricted cash at December 31, 2023 primarily consisted of a deposit related to corporate credit cards.

Credit Losses

The changes in the allowance for credit losses are as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period

Provision for credit losses

Write-offs charged against the allowance

Recoveries collected

Currency translation adjustment

Balance at end of period

Accumulated Amortization and Depreciation

Accumulated amortization and depreciation within the accompanying consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

Asset Category Asset Category March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 Asset Category June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(In thousands) (In thousands)

ROU assets included in Other non-current assets

Leasehold improvements and equipment

Intangible assets with definite lives
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VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Other income, net

The components of "Other income, net" are as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

(In thousands) (In thousands)

Interest income

Foreign exchange gains (losses), net

Loss on the sale of an asset

Other income, net

Other income, net

Other income, net

Geographic Concentrations

Long-lived assets, excluding goodwill, intangible assets with definite lives and ROU assets, at March 31, June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 relate to "Leasehold
improvements and equipment, net."

March 31,


2024

December 31,


2023

June 30,


2024

December 31,


2023

(In thousands)

Leasehold improvements and equipment, net:

United States

United States

United States

All other countries

Total

NOTE 9—CONTINGENCIES

In the ordinary course of business, Vimeo is, and from time to time may become, a party to various legal proceedings. Vimeo establishes reserves for specific legal matters
when it determines that the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is probable and the loss is reasonably estimable. Management has also identified certain other legal matters where
it believes an unfavorable outcome is not probable and, therefore, no reserve is established. Although management currently believes that resolving claims against Vimeo, including
claims where an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible, will not have a material impact on the liquidity, results of operations or financial condition of Vimeo, these matters are
subject to inherent uncertainties and management's view of these matters may change in the future. Vimeo also evaluates other contingent matters, including income and non-
income tax contingencies, to assess the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome and estimated extent of potential loss. It is possible that an unfavorable outcome of one or more of
these lawsuits or other contingencies could have a material impact on the liquidity, results of operations or financial condition of Vimeo. See "Note "Note 3—Income Taxes" Taxes" for
additional information related to income tax contingencies.

EMI/Capitol Records Copyright Infringement Litigation

In December 2009, a group of music publishers owned by EMI Music Publishing (now owned by Sony/ATV Music Publishing, a subsidiary of Sony Entertainment) and a group
of then EMI-affiliated record companies, including Capitol Records (now owned by Universal Music Group), filed two lawsuits against Vimeo and its former owner, Connected
Ventures, in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. See Capitol Records, LLC v. Vimeo, LLC, No. 09 Civ. 10101 (S.D.N.Y.) and EMI Blackwood Music, Inc. v.
Vimeo, LLC, No. 09 Civ. 10105 (S.D.N.Y.). In both cases, plaintiffs allege that Vimeo infringed their music copyrights (in the publishers' musical compositions and the record
companies' sound recordings) by hosting and streaming videos uploaded by users (and in certain cases, former employees) featuring their musical works. Plaintiffs seek, among
other things, injunctive relief and monetary damages. The initial complaints identified 199 videos as infringing (which Vimeo removed post-suit).

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Prior to suit, plaintiffs did not avail themselves of their right to submit a takedown notice to Vimeo pursuant to the online safe harbor provisions of the Digital Millennium
Copyright Act of 1998 ("DMCA"), which limits the liability of online service providers for copyright infringement of their users when the provider takes certain measures. Vimeo
asserts that the DMCA limits its liability because it complies with the DMCA and plaintiffs failed to submit takedown notices. Plaintiffs disagree, asserting various theories as to why
the DMCA may not apply to some or all of the videos-in-suit.

The district court bifurcated proceedings and required the parties to first litigate the issue of whether Vimeo satisfied the DMCA's safe harbor provisions. On September 18,
2013, the district court granted partial summary judgment to Vimeo on 144 of the 199 original videos-in-suit on the ground that Vimeo complied with the threshold requirements of
the DMCA and that there was no evidence that a Vimeo employee had watched the videos in question such that Vimeo had actual or "red flag" knowledge of infringement, which
would disqualify the DMCA's application. The court denied summary judgment as to 35 videos-in-suit on the ground that there was a material question of fact as to whether Vimeo
had "red flag" knowledge of infringement based upon employees having watched all or part of these videos. The court further held that the DMCA did not apply to the record
companies' state-law claims regarding sound recordings fixed before February 1972; a trial was necessary to determine whether Vimeo was liable for employees who uploaded
approximately 20 videos; and that plaintiffs should be permitted to amend their complaints to add over 1,500 videos allegedly infringing their copyrights (which Vimeo removed after
receiving plaintiffs' proposed amended complaint).

Vimeo sought and obtained the right to appeal certain issues on an interlocutory basis to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. On June 16, 2016, the Second
Circuit held that (1) the district court had applied the incorrect summary-judgment standard for "red flag" infringement and that evidence that an employee watched all or part of a
video containing plaintiffs' music did not raise a genuine issue of fact as to whether Vimeo had "red flag" knowledge in such video; (2) the DMCA applies to state-law copyright
infringement claims predicated on pre-1972 sound recordings; and (3) on an issue raised by plaintiffs in their cross-appeal, the record did not show that Vimeo was willfully blind
towards infringing activity taking place on its platform. As a result of these rulings, the Second Circuit partially vacated the district court's ruling and remanded the case for further
proceedings consistent with its judgment.

On March 31, 2018, the district court granted Vimeo’s motion to dismiss plaintiffs' state-law unfair competition claims on the grounds that they were state-law copyright claims
covered by the DMCA per the Second Circuit's judgment. On May 28, 2021, the district court granted Vimeo summary judgment as to videos for which the sole remaining basis of
liability was the assertion that Vimeo had "red flag" knowledge of infringement. On August 26, 2021, the district court approved a stipulation whereby plaintiffs agreed to conditionally
dismiss all remaining claims to allow a final judgment to issue. Under the stipulation, plaintiffs may refile their claims regarding the alleged employee-uploaded videos if the Second
Circuit reverses the district court's other rulings in whole or in part. On November 1, 2021, the district court entered a final judgment adopting the terms of the parties' stipulation. On
November 29, 2021, plaintiffs filed an appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. The appeal has been fully briefed and argued.

RTI Copyright Litigation

Between 2012 and 2017, Italian broadcaster Reti Televisive Italiane s.p.a. and an affiliate thereof (collectively, "RTI") filed four lawsuits for copyright infringement against Vimeo
in the Civil Court of Rome. See Reti Televisive Italiane s.p.a. v. Vimeo, LLC, Cause Nos. 23732/12, 62343/2015, and 59780/2017 (Rome Civil Court), and Medusa Film v. Vimeo,
Inc., Cause No. 74775/2017 (Rome Civil Court). In each case, RTI asserts that Vimeo infringed its copyrights by hosting and streaming user-uploaded videos that allegedly contain
RTI's television or film programming, and seeks, among other things, injunctive relief and monetary damages.

On January 15, 2019, the Civil Court of Rome concluded the first case (No. 23732/12) and entered a judgment against Vimeo, awarding RTI damages of €8,500,000 plus
interest and entering an injunction against Vimeo with respect to further acts of infringement. Vimeo filed an appeal and petitioned to stay the judgment pending appeal. On May 13,
2019, the Rome Court of Appeals stayed the judgment pending appeal. On August 10, 2022, the Rome Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment. Vimeo is now appealing has
appealed to the Italian Supreme Court of Cassation. Cassation and the case is currently pending (No. 26719/2022).

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

On June 2, 2019, the Civil Court of Rome concluded the second case (No. 62343/2015) and entered a judgment against Vimeo, awarding RTI damages of €4,746,273 plus
interest and entering an injunction against Vimeo as to further acts infringement. Vimeo filed an appeal and petitioned to stay the judgment pending appeal. The Rome Court of
Appeals declined to stay the judgment. On October 12, 2023, the Rome Court of Appeals published its decision affirming the lower court's judgment on liability but reducing the
amount of damages to €3,865,161 plus interests and costs. Vimeo has appealed to the Italian Supreme Court of Cassation. Cassation and the case is currently pending (No.
856/2024).

To pursue enforcement of the judgments in the United States, RTI initially commenced a lawsuit against Vimeo in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York
on October 26, 2020 to enforce the June 2019 judgment. See Reti Televisive Italiane s.p.a. v. Vimeo, LLC, No. 20 Civ. 8954 (S.D.N.Y.). On December 22, 2020, Vimeo and RTI filed,
and the district court entered, a stipulation and order staying the U.S. proceedings pending the final outcome of the appeals from the Italian judgment at issue. On June 1, 2023, RTI
filed an action in the Supreme Court of New York, New York County to enforce the Civil Court's judgment of €8,500,000 (No. 652646/2023). The case was removed to federal court
and is now pending in the Southern District of New York. See Reti Televisive Italiane S.p.A. v. Vimeo.com, Inc, No. 23 Civ. 05488 (S.D.N.Y.). On October 20, 2023, the U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of New York entered an order lifting the stay of the U.S. enforcement proceedings in the first case (No. 20 Civ. 8954) and consolidating the two
enforcement proceedings (No. 20 Civ. 8954 and No. 23 Civ. 05488). Vimeo has filed a Motion for Summary Judgement or, in the Alternative, to Stay the Case.

On April 7, 2023, the Civil Court of Rome published a decision finding in favor of Vimeo and dismissing the third case (No. 59780/2017) in its entirety. On October 9, 2023, RTI
served Vimeo with its appeal challenging the court's decision in the third case. The case is currently pending before the appellate court. court (No. 5033/2023).
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On October 18, 2022, the Civil Court of Rome issued a decision in the fourth case, Medusa Film v. Vimeo, Inc. (No. 74775/2017) finding liability but rejecting RTI's damage
calculation and reserving judgment as to the amount of damages. On November 30, 2022, RTI served a notice of appeal challenging the court's decision on damages. The case is
currently pending before the appellate court. court (No. 6536/2022).

On June 26, 2024, the parties entered into a settlement agreement to resolve the lawsuits pending in Italy and the consolidated enforcement action pending in New York. The
settlement agreement included a payment to the plaintiffs, which did not have a material impact on Vimeo’s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. Pursuant to the
settlement agreement, on July 12, 2024, the parties filed a Joint Stipulation of Dismissal of the consolidated enforcement action in the Southern District of New York (No. 23 Civ.
05488), and the case is now closed. On July 18, 2024, the parties filed Joint Stipulations of Dismissal to resolve the cases pending in the Civil Court of Rome (No. 74775/2017), the
Rome Court of Appeals (Nos. 6536/2022 and 5033/2023), and the Italian Supreme Court of Cassation (Nos. 26719/2022 and 856/2024). The Italian courts are expected to issue
orders declaring that the cases are closed in the coming weeks.

Sony/Universal/Warner Copyright Litigation

In March 2021, Sony Music Entertainment Italy (a subsidiary of Sony Music Entertainment Group), Warner Music Italia (a subsidiary of Warner Music Group), Universal Music
Italia (a subsidiary of Universal Music Group), and Warner Music International Services (a subsidiary of Warner Music Group) filed a lawsuit against Vimeo in the Court of Milan
alleging violations of Italian copyright and unfair competition laws. See Sony Music Entertainment Italy s.p.a. et al. v. Vimeo, Inc., Case No. 10977/2021 (Court of Milan, Business
Division). The complaint alleges that Vimeo infringed plaintiffs' copyrights by hosting and streaming user-uploaded videos that contain plaintiffs' copyrighted works and that, upon
notification of the alleged infringement, Vimeo employed a takedown process that did not comply with Italian law. The complaint seeks, among other things, injunctive relief and
damages to be quantified in a separate proceeding. Additionally, the complaint seeks potential penalties of €10,000 per day of delay in removing unauthorized works after receipt of
a court order to do so, if applicable. On November 3, 2021, Vimeo filed its initial brief. On November 23, 2021, the parties attended the initial hearing with the Court of Milan where
the court set forth a briefing schedule. The parties have exchanged briefs, and the hearing scheduled for December 19, 2023 June 26, 2024 was postponed to June 26,
2024 October 16, 2024.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

NOTE 10—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Vimeo has entered into various sublease agreements with a subsidiary of Angi Inc., an indirect subsidiary of IAC, whereby Vimeo agreed to sublease a portion of the 5th floor
and the entire 10th floor at 330 West 34th Street ("West 34th Street Sublease") in New York City, both through April 2028. At March 31, June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
Vimeo had a current lease liability of $2.4 2.5 million and $2.3 million included in "Accrued expenses and other current liabilities,", respectively, and a non-current lease liability of
$10.0 9.4 million and $10.7 million included in "Other long-term liabilities,", respectively, related to the West 34th Street Sublease in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
Rent expense for both the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $0.9 million. were both $0.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

VIMEO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Unaudited)

NOTE 11—RESTRUCTURING

During the three months quarters ended March 31, 2024 and 2023,, the Company completed evaluations to sufficient levels of detail to commit to restructuring plans that
resulted in reductions to its workforce of approximately 4% and 11% of its employees, respectively. One-time termination benefits provided as part of the restructuring plans include
severance, continuation of health insurance coverage and other benefits for a specified period of time, which resulted in $2.2 million and $4.9 million of restructuring costs for the
three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Costs related to these restructuring plans have been recognized in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

(In thousands) (In thousands)

Restructuring costs:

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Research and development expense

Sales and marketing expense
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General and administrative expense

Total

At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, a payable of $0.8 $0.2 million related to restructuring costs was included in "Accrued expenses and other current liabilities" in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Item 2.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for Vimeo

GENERAL

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with the Vimeo consolidated financial statements for the
three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 included in "Item 1—Consolidated Financial Statements."

Operating Metrics and Key Terms:

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023

%

Change 2024 2023 % Change 2024

(In thousands, except ARPU)

(In thousands, except

ARPU) (In thousands, except ARPU)

Self-Serve &
Add-Ons:

Subscribers

Subscribers

Subscribers 1,348.6  1,478.5  1,478.5  (9) (9) % 1,304.6  1,432.0  1,432.0  (9) (9)% 1,304.6  1,432.0  1,432.0  (9) (9)%

Average
Subscribers

Average
Subscribers 1,364.2  1,491.8  1,491.8  (9) (9) %

ARPU ARPU $ 206  $ $ 195  6  6  %

Bookings Bookings $66,866  $ $ 71,374  (6) (6) %

Vimeo Enterprise:

Vimeo Enterprise:

Vimeo Enterprise:

Subscribers

Subscribers

Subscribers 3.7  2.5  2.5  47  47  %

Average
Subscribers

Average
Subscribers 3.5  2.4  2.4  48  48  %

ARPU ARPU $21,203  $ $ 19,831  7  7  %

Bookings Bookings $19,935  $ $ 13,531  47  47  %

Other:

Other:

Other:

Subscribers

Subscribers

Subscribers 60.4  83.6  83.6  (28) (28) %

Average
Subscribers

Average
Subscribers 63.7  88.5  88.5  (28) (28) %

ARPU ARPU $ 1,044  $ $ 935  12  12  %

Bookings Bookings $11,329  $ $ 12,855  (12) (12) % Bookings $ 9,144  $ $11,296  (19) (19)% $20,473  $ $ 24,151  (15) (15) %
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When the following terms appear in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for Vimeo, they have the meanings indicated
below:

• Self-Serve & Add-Ons relates to our subscription plans sold directly online, and any add-on services tied to those online subscriptions. This includes our Starter, Standard,
and Advanced subscription plans, and add-on services such as bandwidth charges, which are sold through our sales force to subscribers of one of our plans if they exceed
a certain threshold of bandwidth.

• Vimeo Enterprise relates to our video offering designed for teams and organizations, which includes the same capabilities of Self-Serve & Add-Ons plus enterprise-grade
features such as advanced security, custom user permissions, single-sign on for employees, interactive video tools, and marketing software integrations. Vimeo Enterprise
is sold through our sales force and is often an upgrade from Vimeo's Self-Serve & Add-Ons as the number of users or use cases in an organization grows.

• Other relates to products and services we offer outside of Self-Serve & Add-Ons and Vimeo Enterprise, primarily our over-the-top ("OTT") video monetization solution that
allows customers to launch and run their own video streaming channel directly to their audience through a branded web portal, mobile apps and Internet-enabled TV apps.
Other also includes Magisto, Livestream, Wibbitz, and WIREWAX.

• Subscribers is the number of users who have an active subscription to one of Vimeo's paid plans measured at the end of the relevant period. Vimeo counts each
account customer with a subscription plan as a subscriber. In subscriber regardless of the case of customers number

of users. In the case of customers who maintain accounts subscriptions across Self-Serve & Add-Ons, Vimeo Enterprise, and Other, Vimeo counts them as one subscriber
for each of the components in which they maintain a subscription. one or more subscriptions. Vimeo does not count users or team members who have access to a
subscriber's account as additional subscribers.

• Average Subscribers is the sum of the number of Subscribers at the beginning and at the end of the relevant measurement period divided by two.

• Average Revenue per User ("ARPU") is the annualized revenue for the relevant period divided by Average Subscribers. For periods that are less than a full year,
annualized revenue is calculated by dividing the revenue for that particular period by the number of calendar days in the period and multiplying this value by the number of
calendar days in that year.

• Bookings consists of fixed fees for SaaS services, measured at the end of the relevant period, that subscribers have paid or committed to pay during their subscription
period or 12 months, whichever is shorter, less refunds and chargebacks during the same period.

• Gross Margin is revenue less cost of revenue, divided by revenue.

• Cost of Revenue consists primarily of hosting fees, credit card processing fees, compensation expense and other employee-related costs, and stock-based compensation
expense for personnel engaged in customer care functions, traffic acquisition costs, which includes in-app purchase fees, outsourced customer care personnel costs, rent
expense and facilities costs.

• Research and Development Expense consists primarily of compensation expense and other employee-related costs and stock-based compensation expense that are not
capitalized for personnel engaged in the design, development, testing and enhancement of product offerings and related technology, software license and maintenance
costs, rent expense and facilities costs.

• Sales and Marketing Expense consists primarily of advertising expenditures, which include online marketing, including fees paid to search engines, social media sites, e-
mail campaigns, display advertising, video advertising and affiliate marketing, and offline marketing, which includes conferences and events, compensation expense and
other employee-related costs, and stock-based compensation expense for Vimeo's sales force and marketing personnel, software license and maintenance costs, rent
expense and facilities costs.

• General and Administrative Expense consists primarily of compensation expense and other employee-related costs and stock-based compensation expense for
personnel engaged in executive management, finance, legal, tax, information technology and human resources, provision for credit losses, fees for professional services,
rent expense, facilities costs, software license and maintenance costs, and business insurance.

• Credit Facility is the $100 million revolving credit facility entered into on February 12, 2021 by Vimeo.com, Inc., which was terminated in accordance with its terms effective
June 30, 2023.

• Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("Adjusted EBITDA") is a non-GAAP financial measure. See "Principles of Financial
Reporting" for the definition of Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of net earnings (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA, for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June
30, 2024 and 2023.
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MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW

Vimeo is the world's leading all-in-one video software solution, providing the full breadth of video tools through a software-as-a-service model. Vimeo's comprehensive and
cloud-based tools empower its users to create, collaborate and communicate with video on a single, turnkey platform.

Sources of Revenue

Vimeo's revenue is derived primarily from SaaS subscription fees paid by customers for subscription plans. Revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contractual
term of the arrangement beginning on the date that the service is made available to the customer. Subscription periods generally range from one month to three years with the most
common being an annual subscription and are generally non-cancellable.

Distribution, Marketing and Advertiser Relationships

Vimeo pays to market and distribute its services on third-party search engines and social media websites, and through e-mail campaigns, display advertising, video advertising
and affiliate marketing. Vimeo also pays traffic acquisition costs, which consist of fees paid to Apple and Google related to the distribution and the facilitation of in-app purchases of
product features. These distribution channels might also offer other third parties services and products, which compete with those Vimeo offers.

Vimeo also markets and offers its services and products through branded websites, allowing customers to transact directly with it in a convenient manner.

Results of Operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 compared to the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023

Results of operations for the periods presented as a percentage of our revenue are as follows:

Three Months Ended March

31,

Three Months Ended March

31,

Three Months Ended March

31,

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June

30,

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

(as a % of revenue) (as a % of revenue)

Revenue Revenue 100  % 100  % Revenue 100 % 100  % 100 % 100 %

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown separately
below)

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Research and development expense

Research and development expense

Research and development expense

Sales and marketing expense

General and administrative expense

Depreciation

Amortization of intangibles

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Operating income
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Interest expense

Other income, net

Other income, net

Other income, net

Earnings (loss) before income taxes

Earnings before income taxes

Income tax provision

Net earnings (loss) 6  % (1) %

Net earnings 10  % 6  % 8  % 3 %

Revenue

Three Months Ended March 31, Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024 2023 C

(In thousands) (In thousands)

Self-
Serve &
Add-Ons

Self-
Serve &
Add-Ons $ 69,912  $ $ 71,602  $ $(1,690) (2) (2) %

Self-

Serve

& Add-

Ons $ 68,565  $ $ 70,821  $ $(2,256) (3) (3)% $ 138,477  $ $ 142,423  $

Vimeo
Enterprise

Vimeo
Enterprise 18,467  11,572  11,572  6,895  6,895  60  60  %

Other Other 16,531  20,408  20,408  (3,877) (3,877) (19) (19) %

Total
revenue

Total
revenue $104,910  $ $103,582  $ $ 1,328  1  1  %

Total

revenue $104,376  $ $101,835  $ $ 2,541  2  2 % $ 209,286  $ $ 205,417  $

For the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2023

Revenue increased $1.3 million $2.5 million, or 1% 2%, due primarily to an increase of $6.9 million $7.2 million, or 60% 55%, in Vimeo Enterprise, partially offset by decreases
of $3.9 million $2.4 million, or 19% 13%, in Other and $1.7 million $2.3 million, or 2% 3%, in Self-Serve & Add-Ons.

The increase in Vimeo Enterprise was primarily due to increases of 48% 40% and 7% 12% in Average Subscribers and ARPU, respectively. The decrease in Other was a result
of the Company actively deprecating a number of products in this category. The decrease in Self-Serve & Add-Ons was due primarily to a decrease of 9% in Average Subscribers,
partially offset by an increase of 6% in ARPU.

For the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023

Revenue increased $3.9 million, or 2%, due primarily to an increase of $14.0 million, or 57%, in Vimeo Enterprise, partially offset by decreases of $6.2 million, or 16%, in Other
and $3.9 million, or 3%, in Self-Serve & Add-Ons.

The increase in Vimeo Enterprise was primarily due to increases of 40% and 12% in Average Subscribers and ARPU, respectively. The decrease in Other was a result of the
Company actively deprecating a number of products in this category. The decrease in Self-Serve & Add-Ons was due primarily to a decrease of 9% in Average Subscribers, partially
offset by an increase of 6% in ARPU.

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below) and Gross profit

Three Months Ended March 31, Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024 2023 Change

%

Change

(In thousands) (In thousands)
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Cost of
revenue
(exclusive
of
depreciation
shown
separately
below)

Cost of
revenue
(exclusive
of
depreciation
shown
separately
below) $23,443  $ $23,672  $ $ (229) (1) (1)%

Cost of

revenue

(exclusive

of

depreciation

shown

separately

below) $22,678  $ $22,845  $ $ (167) (1) (1)% $ 46,121  $ $ 46,517  $ $ (396) (1) (1)%

Gross profit Gross profit $81,467  $ $79,910  $ $1,557  2  2 % Gross profit $81,698  $ $78,990  $ $ 2,708  3  3 % $ 163,165  $ $ 158,900  $ $ 4,265  3  3 %

Gross
margin

For the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2023

Cost of revenue decreased $0.2 million, or 1%, due primarily to a decrease in restructuring costs. credit card processing fees of $0.9 million driven by lower bookings from Self-
Serve & Add-Ons, partially offset by an increase in hosting costs of $0.6 million.

Gross profit increased $1.6 2.7 million, or 2% 3%, due primarily to the increase in revenue.

For the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023

Cost of revenue decreased $0.4 million, or 1%, due primarily to a decrease in credit card processing fees of $1.1 million driven by lower bookings from Self-Serve & Add-Ons,
partially offset by an increase in hosting costs of $0.6 million.

Gross profit increased$4.3 million, or 3%, due primarily to the increase in revenue.

Operating Expenses

Three Months Ended March 31, Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024 2023 Change Ch

(In thousands) (In thousands)

Research
and
development
expense

Research
and
development
expense $28,135  $ $31,260  $ $(3,125) (10) (10)%

Research

and

development

expense $26,972  $ $26,676  $ $ 296  1  1 % $ 55,107  $ $ 57,936  $ $ (2,829) (5)

Sales and
marketing
expense

General and
administrative
expense

Depreciation

Amortization
of intangibles

Total operating
expenses

Total
operating
expenses $78,878  $ $82,715  $ $(3,837) (5) (5)%

Total

operating

expenses $74,237  $ $74,395  $ $ (158) —  — % $ 153,115  $ $ 157,110  $ $ (3,995) (3)

For the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2023

Research and development expense increased $0.3 million, or 1%, due primarily to increased investment in products of $1.0 million, partially offset by a decrease of $0.7
million in stock-based compensation expense due to executive turnover in 2023.

Sales and marketing expense decreased $12.1 million, or 30%, due primarily to a decreases of $8.0 million in advertising costs as we reduced underperforming spend and
shifted to a more organic customer acquisition approach, $2.3 million in stock-based compensation expense driven by executive turnover in 2024, and $1.9 million in compensation
expense and other employee-related costs driven by lower headcount.
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General and administrative expense increased $12.1 million, or 175%, due primarily to an increase of $12.1 million in stock-based compensation expense driven by executive
turnover in 2023.

Depreciation was nearly flat compared to the prior year period.

Amortization of intangibles decreased $0.6 million, or 62%, due primarily to certain intangible assets reaching the end of their estimated useful lives in the second quarter of
2023.

For the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023

Research and development expense decreased $3.1 million $2.8 million, or 10% 5%, due primarily to decreases of $2.7 million in restructuring costs driven by a reduction-in-
force that was completed in the first quarter of 2023 and $1.1 million $1.8 million in stock-based compensation expense due to executive turnover in 2023. 2023, partially offset by
increased investment in products of $1.7 million.

Sales and marketing expense decreased $7.7 million $19.8 million, or 19% 25%, due primarily to a decrease decreases of $7.0 million $15.0 million in advertising costs as we
reduced underperforming spend and shifted to a more organic customer acquisition approach. approach, $3.0 million in stock-based compensation expense driven by executive
turnover in 2024, and $2.8 million in compensation expense and other employee-related costs driven by lower headcount, partially offset by an increase of $1.1 million in travel and
entertainment costs.

General and administrative expense increased $8.7 million $20.9 million, or 94% 128%, due primarily to an increase of $9.8 million $22.0 million in stock-based compensation
expense driven by Board and executive turnover in 2023.

Depreciation decreased $0.9 million $0.8 million, or 94% 80%, due primarily to costs associated with an asset retirement obligation incurred in the first quarter of 2023 related to
the Company's international operations.

Amortization of intangibles decreased $0.9 million $1.4 million, or 72% 68%, due primarily to certain intangible assets reaching the end of their estimated useful lives in the
second quarter of 2023.

Operating income (loss)

  Three Months Ended March 31,

  2024 2023 Change % Change

  (In thousands)

Operating income (loss) $ 2,589  $ (2,805) $ 5,394  NM

  Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

  2024 2023 Change % Change 2024 2023 Change % Change

  (In thousands)

Operating income $ 7,461  $ 4,595  $ 2,866  62 % $ 10,050  $ 1,790  $ 8,260  461 %

For the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2023

Operating income (loss) increased $5.4 million $2.9 million due to an increase in gross profit of $1.6 million $2.7 million and a decrease in operating expenses of $3.8
million $0.2 million. The increase in gross profit was driven by an increase in revenue, as gross margins were flat (78% in both periods). The decrease in operating expenses was
due primarily to decreases in advertising costs of $8.0 million and compensation expense and other employee-related costs of $1.7 million, partially offset by an increase in stock-
based compensation expense of $9.1 million.

For the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023

Operating income increased $8.3 million due to an increase in gross profit of $4.3 million and a decrease in operating expenses of $4.0 million. The increase in gross profit was
driven by an increase in revenue, which led to improved gross margin (78% in 2024 compared to 77% in 2023). The decrease in operating expenses was due primarily to decreases
in advertising costs of $7.0 million $15.0 million, restructuring costs of $2.5 million, amortization of intangibles of $0.9 million, depreciation of $0.9 million, and compensation expense
and other employee-related costs of $0.8 million $2.5 million, restructuring costs of $2.5 million, and amortization of intangibles of $1.4 million, partially offset by an increase in stock-
based compensation expense of $8.1 million $17.2 million.

Non-Operating Expenses
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Three Months Ended March 31, Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024

(In thousands) (In thousands)

Interest
expense

Interest
expense $ —  $ $ (121) $ $ 121  (100) (100)%

Interest

expense $ —  $ $(877) $ $877  (100) (100) % $

Interest income

Interest income

Interest income 3,671  2,686  2,686  985  985  37  37  % 3,760  2,992  2,992  768  768  26  26 %

Foreign
exchange
gains
(losses),
net

Foreign
exchange
gains
(losses),
net 145  (5) (5) 150  150  NM NM

Foreign

exchange

gains

(losses),

net 121  (58) (58) 179  179  NM NM

Loss on
the sale
of an
asset

Loss on
the sale
of an
asset —  (37) (37) 37  37  (100) (100) %

Other income, net

Other income, net

Other income, net $3,816  $ $2,644  $ $1,172  44  44 % $ 3,881  $ $2,934  $ $947  32  32  % $7,697 

Interest expense decreased $0.1 million $0.9 million and $1.0 million for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, due to the termination of
the Credit Facility in the second quarter of 2023.

Other income, net increased $1.2 million $0.9 million and $2.1 million for three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, due primarily to an increase
in Interest income driven by larger money market fund balances and higher interest rates on the Company's money market funds. rates.

Income tax provision

  Three Months Ended March 31,

  2024 2023 Change % Change

  (In thousands)

Income tax provision $ (332) $ (416) $ 84  (20)%

  Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

  2024 2023 Change % Change 2024 2023 Change % Change

  (In thousands)

Income tax provision $ (1,221) $ (781) $ (440) 56 % $ (1,553) $ (1,197) $ (356) 30 %

For further details of income tax matters, see "Note 3—Income Taxes" to the financial statements included in "Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements."

Income tax provision decreased increased as a result of higher pre-tax income for the tax treatment of entities with pre-tax losses in the first quarter of 2023. three and six
months ended June 30, 2024.

Adjusted EBITDA

Three Months Ended March 31, Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024 2023 Change

%

Change 2024 2023 Change

%

Cha

(In thousands) (In thousands)

Adjusted
EBITDA

Adjusted
EBITDA $12,170  $ $3,240  $ $8,930  NM NM

Adjusted

EBITDA $16,343  $ $ 5,023  $ $ 11,320  225  225 % $28,513  $ $8,263  $ $20,250  245 
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As a
percentage
of revenue

For a reconciliation of net earnings (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA, see "Principles of Financial Reporting."

For the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2023

Adjusted EBITDA increased $8.9 million $11.3 million to $12.2 million $16.3 million, primarily due to an increase in gross profit driven by higher revenue and decreases in
advertising costs and compensation expense and other employee-related costs.

For the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023

Adjusted EBITDA increased $20.3 million to $28.5 million, primarily due to an increase in gross profit driven by higher revenue and decreases in advertising costs and
compensation expense and other employee-related costs.

PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING

We have provided Adjusted EBITDA in this report to supplement our financial information presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
("GAAP"). We use this non-GAAP financial measure internally in analyzing our financial results and believe that this non-GAAP financial measure is useful to investors as an
additional tool to evaluate ongoing operating results and trends and in comparing our financial results with other companies in our industry, many of which present a similar non-
GAAP financial measure. However, our presentation of this non-GAAP financial measure may differ from the presentation of similarly titled measures by other companies. Adjusted
EBITDA is one of the metrics on which our internal budgets are based and also one of the metrics by which management is compensated. We believe that investors should have
access to, and we are obligated to provide, the same set of tools that we use in analyzing our results. This non-GAAP financial measure should be considered in addition to results
prepared in accordance with GAAP, but should not be considered a substitute for or superior to GAAP results. We endeavor to compensate for the limitations of the non-GAAP
measure presented by providing the comparable GAAP measure with equal or greater prominence and descriptions of the reconciling items, including quantifying such items, to
derive the non-GAAP measure. We encourage investors to examine the reconciling adjustments between the GAAP and corresponding non-GAAP measure, which we discuss
below.

Definition of Non-GAAP Measure

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("Adjusted EBITDA") is defined as operating income (loss) excluding: (1) stock-based compensation
expense; (2) depreciation; (3) acquisition-related items consisting of (i) amortization of intangible assets, (ii) impairments of goodwill and intangible assets, if applicable, and (iii)
gains and losses recognized on changes in the fair value of contingent consideration arrangements; and (4) restructuring costs associated with exit or disposal activities such as a
reduction-in-force. We believe this measure is useful for analysts and investors as this measure allows a more meaningful comparison between our performance and that of our
competitors. The above items are excluded from our Adjusted EBITDA measure because these items are either non-cash or non-recurring in nature. Adjusted EBITDA has certain
limitations because it excludes the impact of these expenses.

The reconciliation of net earnings (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA is as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Three Months Ended March 31, (In thousands)

2024 2023

(In thousands)

Net earnings (loss)

Net earnings

Add back:

Income tax provision

Income tax provision

Income tax provision

Other income, net

Interest expense

Interest expense

Interest expense

Operating income (loss)

Operating income
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Add back:

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Depreciation

Amortization of intangibles

Contingent consideration fair value adjustments

Restructuring costs

Adjusted EBITDA

Items That Are Excluded From Non-GAAP Measure

Stock-based compensation expense consists of expense associated with the grants of Vimeo stock-based awards. These expenses are not paid in cash and we view the
economic costs of stock-based awards to be the dilution to our share base. We also consider the dilutive impact of stock-based awards in GAAP diluted earnings per share, to the
extent such impact is dilutive.

Depreciation is a non-cash expense relating to our leasehold improvements and equipment and is computed using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of depreciable
assets to operations over their estimated useful lives, or, in the case of leasehold improvements, the lease term, if shorter.

Amortization of intangible assets and impairments of goodwill and intangible assets are non-cash expenses related to acquisitions. At the time of an acquisition, the identifiable
definite-lived intangible assets of the acquired company, such as customer relationships, technology and trade names, are valued and amortized over their estimated lives. An
impairment is recorded when the carrying value of an intangible asset or goodwill exceeds its fair value. We believe that intangible assets represent costs incurred by the acquired
company to build value prior to acquisition and the related amortization and impairments of intangible assets or goodwill, if applicable, are not ongoing costs of doing business.

Gains and losses recognized on changes in the fair value of contingent consideration arrangements are accounting adjustments to report contingent consideration liabilities at
fair value. These adjustments can be highly variable and are excluded from our assessment of performance because they are considered non-operational in nature and, therefore,
are not indicative of current or future performance or the ongoing cost of doing business.

Restructuring costs consist of costs associated with exit or disposal activities such as severance and other post-employment benefits paid in connection with a reduction-in-
force. We consider these costs to be non-recurring in nature and therefore, are not indicative of current or future performance or the ongoing cost of doing business.

VIMEO'S FINANCIAL POSITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financial Position

March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents:

United States

United States

United States

All other countries

Total cash and cash equivalents

Vimeo's international cash can be repatriated without significant tax consequences.

Cash Flow Information

Three Months Ended March 31, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023
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(In thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities

Operating activities

Operating activities

Investing activities

Financing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities consists of net earnings (loss) adjusted for non-cash items and the effect of changes in working capital.

2024

Adjustments to net earnings consisted primarily of $7.0 million $15.4 million of stock-based compensation expense and non-cash lease expense of $1.2 million $2.3 million. The
decrease from changes in working capital primarily consisted of a decrease of $10.4 million in accounts payable and other liabilities  of $13.0 million, partially offset by a decrease in
prepaid expenses and other assets of $2.9 million. The decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities is driven by the payment of 2023 annual cash bonuses in 2024, partially
offset by accruals for 2024 annual cash bonuses. The decrease from prepaid expense and other assets was due to the timing of invoice payments.

Net cash used in investing activities included $0.2 million of capital expenditures.

Net cash used in financing activities included $2.2 million $11.5 million of common stock repurchases and $3.9 million of withholding taxes paid related to the
exercise settlement of equity awards.

2023

Adjustments to net loss earnings consisted primarily of $1.2 million of amortization of intangibles, non-cash lease expense of $1.1 million, $2.3 million and $0.9
million amortization of depreciation. intangibles of $2.1 million. The decrease increase from changes in working capital consisted of an increase in deferred revenue of $8.4 million, a
decrease in accounts receivable of $3.9 million, partially offset by a decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities of $8.4 million, partially offset by a $11.4 million. The increase
in deferred revenue was due primarily to growth in Vimeo Enterprise bookings. The decrease in accounts receivable of $2.2 million, an increase in deferred revenue of $2.0 million,
and was due primarily to a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of $1.6 million. aged accounts receivable balances driven by improved cash collections. The decrease in
accounts payable and other liabilities was due primarily to the payment of 2022 annual cash bonuses in 2023, the timing of invoice payments, and payment of the WIREWAX
contingent consideration arrangement (the portion that was in excess of the amount recorded in purchase accounting and as described in "Note 4—Fair Value Measurements"),
partially offset by the timing of payments related to compensation and other employee related costs. The decrease in accounts receivable was due primarily to a decrease in aged
accounts receivable balances driven by improved accruals for 2023 cash collections. The increase in deferred revenue was due primarily to an increase in Bookings. The decrease
in prepaid expenses and other assets was due primarily to the timing of cash payments. bonuses.

Net cash provided by investing activities included proceeds of $0.6 million previously held in escrow related to the sale of Vimeo's retained interest in its former hardware
business.

Net cash used in financing activities included withholding taxes paid related to the exercise of equity awards of $4.2 million and $3.3 million, related to the WIREWAX
contingent consideration arrangement (the portion up to the amount recorded in purchase accounting as described in "Note 4—Fair Value Measurements") and withholding taxes
paid related to the exercise of equity awards of $1.7 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Share Repurchase Authorizations and Activity

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company repurchased 3.0 million shares of its common stock, on a trade date basis, at an average cost of $3.88 per share, or
in aggregate $11.8 million.

Subsequent to June 30, 2024 and through August 1, 2024, the Company repurchased 1.2 million shares of its common stock, on a trade date basis, at an average cost of
$3.74 per share, or in aggregate $4.6 million. At August 1, 2024, the Company has $33.7 million remaining under its share repurchase authorization.

Outstanding Stock-Based Awards

Stock-based awards are settled in shares of Vimeo common stock and may be settled on a gross or net basis based upon factors deemed relevant at the time. Currently,
stock-based awards are generally settled on a net basis, such that individual award holders will receive shares of Vimeo common stock, net of a number of shares of Vimeo
common stock equal to the required cash tax withholding payment, which will be paid by Vimeo on the employee's behalf.

Liquidity Assessment

At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, Vimeo had $304.3 million $310.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and no debt. Vimeo believes its existing cash and cash equivalents will
be sufficient to fund its normal operating requirements, including capital expenditures, and other commitments for the foreseeable future. The Company's forecast indicates that it
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may not meet the minimum commitment of a non-cancellable cloud computing arrangement which expires in the fourth quarter of 2024, and as a result, could incur additional costs.
Vimeo does not currently expect to incur significant capital expenditures.

Vimeo's liquidity could be negatively affected by a decrease in demand for our products and services, or the occurrence of unexpected expenses. Vimeo may need to raise
additional capital through future debt or equity financings to make additional acquisitions and investments or to provide for greater financial flexibility. Additional financing may not be
available on terms favorable to Vimeo or at all.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There have been no material changes in our market risk as compared to the disclosures in Part II, Item 7A in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 22, 2024.

Item 4.    Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Vimeo monitors and evaluates on an ongoing basis its disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting in order to improve their overall
effectiveness. In the course of these evaluations, Vimeo modifies and refines its internal processes as conditions warrant.

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), Vimeo's management, including its principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, evaluated the effectiveness of Vimeo's disclosure controls and procedures as defined by Rule 13a-15(e) under
the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that Vimeo's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this
report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to Vimeo's internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the
Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Vimeo's internal
control over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, Vimeo's management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements.

PART II

OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth under "Note 9— 9—Contingencies" in the accompanying notes to our consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A.    Risk Factors

In addition to the risk factors below and information set forth in this Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the risks described under the heading "Risk Factors" in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 22, 2024. These risks are not exclusive and additional risks and uncertainties that
we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, also may become important factors that affect us.

Risks Related to User Content and Personal Information

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

33/41

As a highly visible brand, we continue to be the target of cyberattacks and other undesirable acts by malicious actors, and our actual or perceived failure to
adequately protect personal information and confidential information that we (or our service providers or business partners) collect, store or process could trigger
contractual and legal obligations, harm our reputation, subject us to liability and otherwise adversely affect our business including our financial results.

We have been targeted with cyberattacks in the past and may be targeted again. Potential attackers span a spectrum from unsophisticated amateurs to highly advanced
organizations supported by state actors and use a variety of vectors, including malware, ransomware attacks, denial-of-service attacks, and social engineering. Malicious actors may
seek to impede our services (e.g., a denial-of-service attack) or infiltrate our systems for the purpose of introducing malware (e.g., ransomware), deleting or corrupting data, or
exfiltrating data. Other undesirable acts may include the unauthorized use of user data or our systems in a manner inconsistent with our terms of service, contracts, or policies, such
as the existence of false or undesirable user accounts, activities that threaten people’s safety online or offline, or instances of spamming, scraping, or data harvesting. For example,
third parties often attempt to access and collect our site data through “scraping” and other unauthorized mechanisms for unauthorized purposes, which could include distributing
such data to other parties for commercial purposes or training AI models for commercial purposes. Our users and subscribers could also be targeted by malicious actors. In the
past, we have had instances in which user passwords were guessed by malicious actors or were exposed in breaches of other companies and then used by malicious actors to
access the user's account in our system. Additionally, we have experienced cases where user error has caused private data to be exposed. Incidents affecting user data, regardless
of the cause, take time for us to investigate and can be frustrating for our users.

Any of these types of activities may cause significant and lasting negative consequences. Appropriately responding to and remediating such activities may incur significant
expense, and could result in severely diminished operational capacity and the loss of data necessary to operate. If a security incident results in a data breach, we may be subject to
legal liability. Even if financial, legal, or operational harm is avoided, an incident could cause persistent reputational harm to our company. Moreover, it is possible that we may not be
able to anticipate, detect, appropriately react and respond to, or implement effective preventative measures against, such incidents, including being unsuccessful in our efforts to
enforce our policies. Like other global companies, we face an increasingly difficult challenge to attract and retain highly qualified security personnel to assist us in combating these
security threats.

We may face liability for hosting a variety of tortious or unlawful materials.

In the United States, Section 230 of the Communications Decency Act ("Section 230") generally limits our liability for hosting tortious and otherwise illegal content. The
immunities conferred by Section 230 could be narrowed or eliminated through amendment, regulatory action, or judicial interpretation. In 2018, Congress amended Section 230 to
remove immunities for content that promotes or facilitates sex trafficking and prostitution. In more recent sessions of Congress, multiple bills have been introduced to further limit
Section 230. Some bills would repeal or substantially curtail Section 230, while some exempt specific claims or categories of content from Section 230’s reach. In May 2024, the
Energy and Commerce Committee of the U.S. House of Representatives held a Communications and Technology Subcommittee hearing on a proposal to sunset Section 230. While
no draft legislation has formally been introduced yet, this is one of various congressional efforts to eliminate or modify Section 230, so the possibility of congressional action
remains. If Congress revises or repeals Section 230, we may no longer be afforded the same level of protection offered by Section 230.

Laws like Section 230 generally do not exist outside of the United States, and some countries have enacted laws that require online content providers to remove certain pieces
of content within short time frames. If we fail to comply with such laws, we could be subject to prosecution or regulatory proceedings. In addition, some countries may decide to ban
our service based upon a single piece of content. We have been subject to temporary bans in certain countries, including India, Russia and Turkey, for hosting content that those
governments determined to be illegal.

We may also face liability when we remove content and accounts that we believe are violating our acceptable use policy, and we have been sued in the past for certain
content-removal decisions. While we believe that Section 230 allows us to restrict or remove certain categories of content, its protections may not always end a lawsuit at an early
stage, potentially resulting in costly and time-consuming litigation.

We depend on key third-party vendors to provide core services.

We depend on third-party vendors to, among other things, provide customer support, develop software, host videos uploaded by our users, transcode videos (compressing a
video file and converting it into a standard format optimized for streaming), stream videos to viewers and process payments. Specifically, Google Cloud Platform ("GCP") provides
us with hosting and computing services, Amazon Web Services ("AWS") provides us with hosting services and we use multiple CDNs to deliver traffic worldwide. Certain of these
third-party vendors have experienced outages in the past that have caused key Vimeo video services to be unavailable for several hours. We do not have automated cross-vendor
redundancy for GCP or AWS. Consequently, outages in those services materially affect our video services. Outages may expose us to having to offer credits to subscribers, loss of
subscribers and reputational damage. We may not be able to fully offset these losses with any credits we might receive from our vendors. Further, if any of these third-party vendors
shut down services, we may be required to transition to different vendors. Because of the costs and time lags that can be associated with transitioning from one vendor to another,
our business could be substantially disrupted if we were required to replace one or more major vendors with another source, especially if the replacement became necessary on a
short timeframe. Additionally, our forecast indicates that we may not meet the minimum commitment of a non-cancellable cloud computing arrangement which expires in the fourth
quarter of 2024, and as a result, we could incur additional costs.

Item 2.    Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

Vimeo has not issued or sold any shares of its common stock or any other equity securities pursuant to unregistered transactions during the quarter ended March 31,
2024 June 30, 2024.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Vimeo has not purchased any The following table sets forth purchases by the Company of shares of its Vimeo common stock during the quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30,
2024:

Period

Total Number of Shares

Purchased (in thousands)

Average Price Paid Per Share

(1)

Total Number of Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly Announced Plans or

Programs

(in thousands) (2)

Approximate Dollar Value of Shares

that May Yet Be Purchased Under

the Plans or Programs (3)

(in thousands)

April 1 to April 30, 2024 —  —  —  $ 50,000 

May 1 to May 31, 2024 1,085  $ 3.94  1,085  $ 45,747 

June 1 to June 30 2024 1,952  $ 3.84  1,952  $ 38,292 

Total 3,037  $ 3.88  3,037  $ 38,292 

_____________________

(1)    Average price paid per share includes direct costs associated with the repurchases.

(2)    Reflects repurchases of Vimeo common stock made pursuant to the Company's Stock Repurchase Program. See "Note 5—Shareholders' Equity" in the accompanying notes to our consolidated financial statements in Part

I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information related to share repurchases. Subsequent to June 30, 2024 and through August 1, 2024, the Company repurchased 1.2 million shares of its

common stock, on a trade date basis, at an average cost of $3.74 per share, or in aggregate $4.6 million. At August 1, 2024, the Company has $33.7 million remaining in its share repurchase authorization.

(3)    Direct costs associated with the repurchases do not reduce the amount available under the Stock Repurchase Program.

Vimeo may purchase shares of Vimeo common stock pursuant to the Stock Repurchase Program over an indefinite period of time in the open market and in privately negotiated transactions, depending on those factors

Vimeo management deems relevant at any particular time, including, without limitation, market conditions, share price, and future outlook.

Item 5.    Other Information

During our fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, none of Vimeo's directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act) entered into, modified
(as to amount, price or timing of trades) or terminated (i) contracts, instructions or written plans for the purchase or sale of our securities that are intended to satisfy the conditions
specified in Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act for an affirmative defense against liability for trading in securities on the basis of material nonpublic information or (ii) non-Rule
10b5-1 trading arrangements (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K).

Item 6.    Exhibits

The documents set forth below, numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K, are filed herewith, incorporated by reference to the location indicated or furnished
herewith.
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Exhibit


Number Description Location

10.1# Offer Letter, dated as of February 28, 2023,by and between Vimeo, Inc. and Eric Cox Filed herewith.

10.2# Offer Letter, dated as of March 26, 2024, by and between Vimeo, Inc. and Philip Moyer Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on April 4, 2024.

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act

Filed herewith.

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act

Filed herewith.

32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Furnished herewith.

32.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Furnished herewith.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Filed herewith. The instance document does not appear in the
interactive data file because its XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Filed herewith.

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Filed herewith.

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Filed herewith.

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Filed herewith.

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Filed herewith.

  104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) Filed herewith.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
* The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and will not be deemed "filed" for purposes of

Section 18 of the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates them by reference.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

Dated: May 7, August 6, 2024 Vimeo, Inc.

By: /s/ Gillian Munson

Gillian Munson

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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February 28, 2023


By email
Eric Cox
c/o Vimeo, Inc.
330 West 34th Street, 5th Floor
New York, New York 10001

Re: Your Promotion to Chief Operating Officer
Dear Eric,
This letter agreement ("Agreement") serves to confirm the terms and conditions of your continued employment as an executive at Vimeo, Inc. ("Vimeo," "Company" or
"we").



POSITION: As of March l, 2023 (the "Promotion Date"), you will be promoted to Chief Operating Officer (COO). You will report to Company's CEO. You will continue to
work remotely, from San Francisco, California, and will continue to travel as needed to the Company's headquarters in New York City.1

DUTIES: During your continued at-will employment, you will devote your full business time, attention, and energies to the performance of such duties as Company
assigns to you commensurate with your position.

COMPENSATION: Your base salary for 2023, beginning on the promotion date, will be $400,000 per year, payable bi-weekly (or, if different, in accordance with
Company's payroll practice as in effect from time to time).

You are eligible for a discretionary annual bonus. Your bonus target is l 00% of your base salary. Any bonus is discretionary and will be determined by the Compensation
and Human Capital Management Committee (the "Committee") of Company's Board of Directors based upon Company's performance overall and your own performance,
as well as other factors determined by the Committee. Bonuses are paid in the first quarter of the year following the measurement year (e.g., 2023's bonus will be paid in
Ql 2024).

EQUITY: Within ten (10) days after your Promotion Date, Company will grant you the equity award set forth in Schedule B hereto, subject to approval by the Committee.
Once granted, the award will be governed exclusively by the terms and conditions of the award notice and the Plan (and not this letter agreement).

SEVERANCE: If your employment is terminated by Company without Cause at any time or by you for Good Reason during your employment, you will (1) receive
severance equal to twelve (12) months of your then-current salary, which shall be provided via salary continuance; and (2) receive health benefits coverage for twelve
(12) months or, at Company's option, reimbursement for the cost of COBRA coverage for the same period, provided, however, that no cash compensation will be paid in
lieu of unused health benefits. For the purposes of this paragraph, the terms "Cause" and "Good Reason" have the meanings set forth in Company's 2021 Stock and
Annual Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), but without reference to a Change in Control (or, in the case of the Good Reason definition, utilizing the Promotion Date instead of the
date of the change in control, where the context requires). For clarity, a reduction of title below COO shall be considered a

1In order to protect the safety of our employees, Vimeo requires proof of COVID-19 vaccination for all employees intending to work from or visit a U.S. office (currently, NYC
and Boston). Vimeo employees who are permanently remote do not need to provide proof of vaccination at this time unless they will be visiting a U.S. office.

Exhibit 10.1

trigger event under Section 10(c)(ii)(C) of the Plan. Severance payments and benefits will be paid or provided in a manner intended to comply with any applicable
requirements of Internal Revenue Code Section 409A, although Company makes no representation regarding with respect to such compliance.

To be entitled to any severance hereunder, you must (a) execute and not revoke Company's standard severance and release agreement, which agreement must contain
a general release of claims against Company; and (b) if Company so requests, continue working for up to eight (8) weeks after the notice by Company of your termination
to ensure an orderly transition, provided that any additional service period shall not reduce the severance amount.

DEDUCTIONS: Company shall make such deductions and withhold such amounts from each payment and benefit made or provided to you hereunder, as may be
required from time to time by applicable law, regulation, or order.
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BENEFITS: You will be eligible for coverage under Company's then-current healthcare and insurance plans and other benefits that are provided to full-time U.S.
employees. All benefits are governed exclusively by the terms and conditions of their applicable plans or policies and are subject to change.

CODE OF CONDUCT: During your employment, you must comply with Vimeo's Code of Conduct2and other policies and procedures as they may exist from time to time.

RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS: You will comply with the restrictive covenants set forth in Schedule A hereto (the "Restrictive Covenant Agreement").

CONFIDENTIALITY, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, AND NON-SOLICITATION AGREEMENT: If you have not done so already, within 10 days your Promotion Date, you
will execute Company's current standard Employee Confidentiality, Intellectual Property, and Non-Solicitation Agreement (the "Confidentiality and IP Agreement").

MISCELLANEOUS: This letter agreement shall be governed by the law of the State of New York without regard to principles of conflicts of law. This letter agreement
supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, negotiations, and representations, whether written or oral, relating to the terms of your employment. Nothing
in this letter agreement shall modify the Plan or any equity agreement or equity award notice.

AT WILL STATUS: You specifically understand and agree that your employment hereunder shall be at all times on an "at will" basis, and nothing contained herein shall
be construed as establishing a contract of employment between Company and you.

BINDING ARBITRATION: You and Company agree that any dispute relating to or arising out of your employment relationship, excluding disputes arising under the Plan
or any award made thereunder, or a claim by you of sexual assault or harassment, shall be fully and finally resolved by MANDATORY, BINDING ARBITRATION
conducted by the American Arbitration Association in New York County, New York pursuant to its then-current Employment Dispute Resolution Rules.3

Any lawsuit asserting a non-arbitrable claim or seeking to enforce this arbitration clause shall be commenced in the state or federal courts located in New York County,
New York. If in New York state court, the lawsuit shall be maintained in the Commercial Division of the New York Supreme Court for New York County. IN ALL
LAWSUITS, YOU AND COMPANY WAIVE THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY.

COUNSEL: Company requires that you retain counsel to review the terms of this offer letter and the schedules thereto. You represent and warrant that you engaged and
consulted with David Marek, Esq. of the Marek Law Firm (Palo Alto, California) in connection with the foregoing requirement. Company will reimburse you for up to $4,000
in legal fees and disbursements.

2Available at https://investors.vimeo.com/static-files/51fdlf5a-9ffc-402a-bedb-cf35308c0af3.
3Available at https://www.adr.org/sites/default/files/EmploymentRules Web 2.pdf.

Exhibit 10.1

* * *



Please acknowledge your acceptance of these terms by signing where indicated below.
Sincerely,
VIMEO, INC.

By:/s/ Anjali Sud Title: Chief Executive Officer

AGREEDAND ACCEPTED:

ERIC COX

Signature:/s/ Eric CoxDate:February 28, 2023
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Exhibit 31.1

Management Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Philip Moyer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal period ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 of Vimeo, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: May 7, August 6, 2024 /s/ Philip Moyer

Philip Moyer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

39/41

Exhibit 31.2

Management Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Gillian Munson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal period ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 of Vimeo, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: May 7, August 6, 2024 /s/ Gillian Munson

Gillian Munson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
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SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Vimeo, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Philip Moyer, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: May 7, August 6, 2024 /s/ Philip Moyer

Philip Moyer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Vimeo, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Gillian Munson, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of her knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: May 7, August 6, 2024 /s/ Gillian Munson

Gillian Munson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV
CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR
INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME
ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS
REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO
REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT
OR OTHER DECISIONS.
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